
 

Agenda 

Town of Duck Council 

Paul F. Keller Meeting Hall 

November 5, 2025 

1:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting 

__________ 

1. Call to Order 

   

A. Pledge of Allegiance 

 

  B. Moment of Silence 

 

2. Public Comments 

 

3. Consent Agenda 

 

A. Minutes from the October 1, 2025, Regular Meeting 

   

B. Resolution 25-14, a Resolution of the Town Council of the Town of Duck, 

North Carolina, Declaring Certain Property Surplus and Authorizing the 

Sale at Auction of Said Property 

 

C. Resolution 25-15, a Resolution of the Town Council of the Town of Duck, 

North Carolina, Supporting Operation Green Light for Veterans 
 

4. Special Presentations 

 

A. Employee Recognition Program 

 

B. Recognition of Master Police Officer Nathan Mauffray on Obtaining his 

Advanced Law Enforcement Certificate 

 

C. Recognition of Sergeant Timothy Armstrong on Receiving his FBI-

LEEDA Trilogy Award 

 

D. Discussion/Consideration of Resolution 25-16, a Resolution of the Town 

Council of the Town of Duck, North Carolina, Honoring Duck Resident 

Bailey Pappas for His Outstanding Achievement at the 2025 Adaptive 

Crossfit Games 

 

E. Presentation of the Town’s Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Audit Report 

 

5. Quasi-Judicial Public Hearings 

 

A. None at This Time 

 

6. Legislative Public Hearings 

 

A. None at This Time 



November 5, 2025          Regular Meeting  

(continued) 

____________________ 

 

 

7. Old Business/Items Deferred from Previous Meetings 

 

A. Discussion/Consideration of Appointing Seven Individuals to Serve on the 

Town of Duck Parks & Recreation Committee  

 

8. New Business 

 

A. Discussion/Consideration of an Ocean Lifeguard and Rescue Service 

Contract for Calendar Year 2025-2026 

 

B. Discussion/Consideration of Authorizing Staff to Work with the Planning 

Board on Several Zoning Text Amendments 

 

9. Items Referred to and Presentations from the Town Attorney 

 

10. Items Referred to and Presentations from the Town Manager 

 

A. Departmental Updates 

 

B. September 2026 Financial Presentation 

     

11. Mayor’s Agenda 

 

12. Council Member’s Agenda 

      

13.  Other Business 

 

A. Additional Public Comments 

 

14. Closed Session 

 

15. Adjournment – The Next Meeting will be the Regular Meeting on Wednesday, December 

3, 2025 at 1:00 p.m. 



AGENDA:  November 5, 2025  Regular Meeting 

 

ITEM #3: 
 

Consent Agenda 

 

A. Minutes from the October 1, 2025, Regular Meeting 

 

B. Resolution 25-14, a Resolution of the Town Council of the Town of Duck, North 

Carolina, Declaring Certain Property Surplus and Authorizing the Sale at Auction 

of Said Property 

 

C. Resolution 25-15, a Resolution of the Town Council of the Town of Duck, 

North Carolina, Supporting Operation Green Light for Veterans 

 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Approve the Consent Agenda 

 
(As a reminder, the Consent Agenda is intended to be voted on and approved as one motion.  If discussion is 

required on individual items, a motion must be made to remove that item from the Consent Agenda and add it to 

the Regular Agenda.)    

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 
The Consent Agenda includes the minutes from the October 1, 2025, Regular Meeting; Resolution 25-14, 

which declares certain property surplus and authorizes the sale at auction, and Resolution 25-15, which 

supports Operation Green Light for Veterans.  Council is asked to approve the minutes and the resolutions. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• October 1, 2025 Minutes 

• Resolution 25-14 

• Resolution 25-15 



 

 1 

TOWN OF DUCK 

TOWN COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING 

October 1, 2025 

 

The Town Council for the Town of Duck convened at the Paul F. Keller Meeting Hall at 

1:00 p.m. on Wednesday, October 1, 2025. 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor Don Kingston; Mayor Pro Tempore Monica 

Thibodeau; Councilor Sandy Whitman; Councilor Brenda Chasen; and Councilor Kevin 

Lingard. 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT: None. 

 

OTHERS PRESENT: Town Manager Drew Havens; Development and Infrastructure 

Director/Assistant Town Manager Connor Winstead; Town Attorney Robert Hobbs; 

Police Chief Jeffrey Ackerman; Fire Chief Matthew Dudek; Public Information and 

Events Director Kristiana Nickens; Planning and Permits Manager Sandy Cross; Finance 

Administrator Lauren Creech; and Town Clerk Lori Ackerman. 

 

OTHERS ABSENT:   None. 

 

Mayor Kingston called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m.    

 

Mayor Kingston asked Councilor Kevin Lingard to lead the Pledge of Allegiance.  Mayor 

Kingston led the moment of silence. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 

Mayor Kingston opened the floor for public comments.   He noted that comments will be 

limited to three minutes as there was a timer for the time limit.  He asked that any 

comments related to the public hearing be held off.  There being no one wishing to speak, 

Mayor Kingston closed the time for public comments.  

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 

Minutes from the September 3, 2025, Regular Meeting; Minutes from the 

September 17, 2025, Mid-Month Meeting; Resolution 25-13, a Resolution of the 

Town Council of the Town of Duck, North Carolina, Declaring November 20, 2025 

as World Pancreatic Cancer Day; and Interlocal Agreement with the Town of 

Southern Shores in Support of an Application for a Hazard Mitigation Grant for a 

Stormwater Management Project along NC 12 near West Charles Jenkins Lane and 

Sea Oats Trail 

 

Councilor Lingard stated that he was happy to see Resolution 25-13 on the Consent 

Agenda because both of his parents passed away from pancreatic cancer. 



 

 2 

 

Councilor Chasen moved to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 

 

Motion carried 5-0. 

 

SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 

 

Employee Recognition Program 

 

Mayor Kingston stated that in December 2011, Council adopted an employee service 

recognition program that would acknowledge the service of employees of the Town at 

five-year intervals by providing them with a certificate of recognition as well as a gift 

certificate to a Duck business of their choosing. 

 

Mayor Kingston, Town Manager Havens, and Fire Chief Matthew Dudek went on to 

present Fire Captain Jacob Dempsey with his 10-year service recognition and $100 gift 

certificate.  

 

QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING 

 

There were no Quasi-judicial public hearings at this time. 

 

LEGISLATIVE PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 

Public Hearing/Discussion/Consideration of Ordinance 25-05, an Ordinance 

Amending the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Duck, Subsection 156.050 – 

Exemptions Generally, and Subsection 156.128 – Land Disturbing Activities 

 

Mayor Kingston turned the meeting over to Town Attorney Hobbs. 

 

Town Attorney Hobbs opened the public hearing, noting that the Council would be sitting 

as a legislative body. He stated that Planning & Permits Manager Sandy Cross would 

give a presentation. 

 

Planning & Permits Manager Sandy Cross was recognized to speak. Manager Cross 

stated that discussions began at Council’s Retreat in February when staff brought up 

retaining walls and fill.  She added that Council agreed that it would be sent to the 

Planning Board for further review. She stated that discussions with the Planning Board 

started back in April 2025 and the Board spent five months on the issue, culminating in 

the Planning Board making a recommendation at their August 2025 meeting to send it to 

Council. 

 

Manager Cross explained that several sections of the Town Code were considered.  She 

stated that the Planning Board considered Section 156.128, which was land disturbing 

activities, Section 156.050, which was walls and fences, and Chapter 150, which was 

flood damage prevention.  She noted that what came out of the discussions were some 



 

 3 

additional definitions that clarified retaining walls versus bulkheads and fill slopes versus 

cut slopes. She added that the Planning Board also discussed the maximum fill which was 

one of the discussion items had at Council’s Retreat and the Planning Board agreed to 

keep it at three feet, which was preferred; however, it did not exclude one from coming to 

Council for more fill through a special use permit application. 

 

Manager Cross stated that the Planning Board recommended that the Town allow fill to 

be supported by retaining walls provided the homeowner maintains a five-foot property 

setback.  She noted that this was different from what the Town previously had, adding 

that Council reviewed a lot of special use permits for fill and containing them with a 

retaining wall.  She pointed out that the Planning Board kept the engineered stormwater 

plan requirement if a homeowner applies for a special use permit with a request of greater 

than three feet in height.  She added that the Board also recommended maintaining the 

height limits to six feet for residential and 10 feet for commercial properties.  She stated 

that staff can administratively approve retaining walls supporting fill up to three feet and 

bulkhead heights were limited to three feet within three feet of the adjacent grade. 

 

Manager Cross stated that the other specific language changes included cleaning up 

language for land disturbing activities within five feet of property lines; adding staff 

discretion for land disturbance permits “as deemed necessary”; changing the driveway 

design requirement from “prevent” to “mitigate” stormwater flow; and allowing filling 

lot depressions based on percentage of lot size. 

 

Manager Cross explained that, because of the revisions in 156.128 and because of 

Section 156.050 which speaks to walls and fences, staff had to add language that was as 

follows: “Unless otherwise noted in Section 156.128, the setback requirements of this 

chapter shall not prohibit any necessary retaining wall or prohibit any wall or 

fence…unless otherwise specifically provided under Section 156.128.” 

 

Manager Cross stated that the Planning Board found that, consistent with the Town’s 

Comprehensive & Land Use Plan, it minimized negative environmental impacts; 

protected neighborhood character; improved local flooding and stormwater management; 

and improved resiliency to sea level rise and changing climate. She added that it also 

aligned with the Duck 2032 Vision.  She stated that the Planning Board was 

recommending that Council approve Ordinance 25-05. 

 

Town Attorney Hobbs asked Council if they had questions for Manager Cross. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau clarified that if a homeowner has an existing bulkhead in 

place and it needs to be repaired and they had a special use permit previously, it would be 

handled administratively.  Manager Cross stated she was correct. 

 

Councilor Lingard thought the idea was to make staff’s job more easier and give more 

flexibility.  He asked if that was correct.  Manager Cross stated that it was. 

 



 

 4 

Councilor Chasen thanked the Planning Board and staff for getting the ordinance 

completed because it was a lot of work to go through in order to produce clear and easily 

understood graphics that help define the definition of some of the terms to make it easier 

for contractors and homeowners to work through a project together. 

 

Councilor Whitman thanked the Planning Board for their hard work. 

 

Town Attorney Hobbs asked if any members of the public wished to comment on the 

proposed ordinance.  There were none. 

 

There being no one else wishing to speak, Town Attorney Hobbs closed the public 

hearing and turned the meeting back over to Mayor Kingston. 

 

Councilor Chasen moved to approve Ordinance 25-05 as presented. 

 

Motion carried 5-0. 

 

OLD BUSINESS/ITEMS DEFERRED FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS 

 

There was no Old Business to discuss at this time. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

Discussion/Consideration of an Appointment to the Dare County Housing 

Foundation Board 

 

Town Manager Drew Havens was recognized to speak. Town Manager Havens explained 

that the Dare Community Housing Task Force has been working for nearly two years to 

address the issue of the lack of housing for the workforce in Dare County. He stated that 

the Task Force was comprised of representatives from each town, Dare County, and other 

stakeholder groups with he and Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau representing Duck on the 

Task Force.  He added that as the group works towards solutions, one change that was 

needed was to create a non-profit entity that can work with the private and public sectors 

to implement long-term solutions.  He noted that the non-profit will have a Board of 

Directors made up of four individuals from the private sector along with the current Chair 

and Vice Chair of the Task Force, and a representative of each town and two from Dare 

County.  He pointed out that the preference of the Task Force was that the member of this 

new board be an elected official. 

 

Mayor Kingston stated that he had stepped down from the housing taskforce and had 

asked Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau to serve on it. He thought she was doing an 

outstanding job. 

 

Mayor Kingston moved to appoint Mayor Pro Tempore Monica Thibodeau to represent 

the Town of Duck on the Dare County Housing Foundation Board. 

 



 

 5 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau stated that she appreciated Town Manager Havens’ 

explanation of the board, adding that it will have representation from all of the towns and 

some other stakeholders.  She added that she welcomed the opportunity to serve on the 

board. 

 

Motion carried 5-0. 

 

Mayor Kingston pointed out that Donna Creef was in the audience, adding that she was 

the co-chair of the foundation and a member of the housing taskforce.  Mayor Pro 

Tempore Thibodeau added that Ms. Creef has done an amazing job and thanked her for 

her leadership. 

 

ITEMS REFERRED TO AND PRESENTATIONS FROM THE TOWN 

ATTORNEY 

 

Town Attorney Hobbs stated he had nothing to report. 

 

ITEMS REFERRED TO AND PRESENTATIONS FROM THE TOWN 

MANAGER 

 

Departmental Updates 

 

Police Chief Jeffrey Ackerman was recognized to speak.  Police Chief Ackerman gave a 

brief overview of the past month’s police activities to Council and the audience. 

 

Fire Chief Matthew Dudek was recognized to speak. Fire Chief Dudek gave a brief 

overview of the past month’s fire activities to Council and the audience. 

 

Manager Cross gave an overview of the past month’s permit activities to Council and the 

audience. 

 

Public Information and Events Director Kristiana Nickens was recognized to speak.  

Director Nickens gave a brief overview of activities to Council and the audience. 

 

August FY 2026 Financial Presentation 

 

Finance Administrator Lauren Creech was recognized to speak.  Administrator Creech 

gave a short presentation on the August Fiscal Year 2026 financials to Council and the 

audience.   

 

MAYOR’S AGENDA 

 

Mayor Kingston stated that he has his mayors/chairmen meeting on October 21, 2025 

hosted by Dare County.  He stated that he was looking forward to the jazz festival. He 

pointed out that the League of Women Voters will be in Duck for the Candidate Forum 



 

 6 

on October 6, 2025 at 7:00 p.m. and that Election Day was November 4, 2025 with early 

voting coming up later in October. He encouraged everyone to get out and vote.  

 

COUNCIL MEMBER’S AGENDA 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau thanked staff for their work on the jazz festival. She 

stated that she was looking forward to the weekend of events and thanked Town staff and 

volunteers for their participation.  She thanked Council for their support with her serving 

on the Dare County Housing Foundation Board. 

 

Councilor Lingard stated that he has an interest in e-bikes and with the unfortunate 

accident that happened a few weeks ago, he predicted that something like that was going 

to happen and it did. He stated that he would like, if it was possible, to have the Town 

join the other towns and meet with their State representatives to put pressure on them. He 

wasn’t sure how it would work, but he thought they could meet with the State 

representatives to put pressure on them to actually do something about defining e-bikes 

and giving the police departments a way of controlling them.  He pointed out that 

someone was seriously injured recently, adding that someone will get killed on an e-bike.  

He understood that the Duck Police Department’s hands were tied because of the lack of 

action by the State. He thought if the four towns got together, it would make it a much 

more powerful voice than just the individual towns talking.  He hoped that he would be 

re-elected and if so, suggested speaking with Town Manager Havens and Police Chief 

Ackerman about it then to see what could be done to unite the voice of the towns. 

 

Councilor Whitman stated that Council was looking for a member of the Planning Board 

to serve on the Parks & Recreation Advisory Committee. He suggested that Council 

allow the Planning Board members to pick their own representative instead of having to 

fill out an application and stand before Council.  He noted that it would have to be an 

individual from the current Planning Board.  Mayor Kingston and Mayor Pro Tempore 

Thibodeau thought it was a good suggestion.  Town Attorney Hobbs stated that he would 

need to look into it because he wasn’t sure if the Planning Board had the authority to do 

that.  He asked if someone could fill him in on things.  Town Manager Havens explained 

that the Planning Board would be able to vote on the individual that should serve on the 

Parks & Recreation Advisory Committee, adding that Council would have the final say 

on it. Town Attorney Hobbs stated that the Town Code has a procedure for appointments, 

including advertising.  He thought the Code should be looked at to see if there was a way 

to do it the way Councilor Whitman suggested.  He thought if it was an appointment that 

Council must make, then the Code tells Council how it is supposed to be done.  Councilor 

Whitman thanked Director Nickens and Community & Engagement Coordinator Betsy 

Trimble for all of the work they will be doing with the upcoming jazz festival. 

 

Mayor Kingston asked if Council should formalize it because they want to make the 

appointments at Council’s November 5, 2025 meeting.  He added that people would be 

coming to the meeting for the appointment to the Parks & Recreation Advisory 

Committee.  He asked if Council should formalize it so they could ask the Planning 

Board to make their recommendation that would be approved by Council. He thought 



 

 7 

Council could reject it. Town Attorney Hobbs explained that the Town Code has a 

procedure for any appointments that Council makes, adding that there was a set 

procedure on how to do it. He recommended that any appointments Council is asked to 

do follows the same procedure every time so Council is consistent.  He added that the 

Planning Board could make a recommendation but Council’s procedure was pretty clear 

about things. 

 

Councilor Chasen thanked staff for all the work they do in keeping Council well 

informed.  She stated that she wanted to address an issue in that she was concerned over a 

recent meeting that was held in the first-floor conference room by the Duck Democrats, 

who were offering a meet and greet of three of the six candidates running for Duck Town 

Council.  She pointed out that there was no partisan politics in a municipal election.  She 

stated that she wanted to objectively state the facts since she researched it in order to call 

attention to it because she thought it was a concern that it even happened.  She stated that 

on August 26, 2025, Duck Democrats the Blue Wave in Duck posted on Facebook that 

they were having a meeting that would be held in the Town Hall building and the 

commentary about it stated that they were excited to announce the Duck Democrats 

meeting for September where they will have a meet and greet with three of the Duck 

Town Council candidates – Monica Thibodeau,  Kevin Lingard and Miriam Rollin – on 

the ballot for the November 4, 2025 election.  She stated that the meet and greet of 

candidates would be held at Town Hall with James Cofield introducing the candidates 

and facilitating the meeting.  She pointed out that there was a note stating that the Duck 

Town Council races were completely non-partisan, there was no R or D after any of the 

candidate names on the ballot. 

 

Councilor Chasen stated that on September 29, 2025, the meeting was held with Mayor 

Pro Tempore Thibodeau and Miriam Rollin attending, but Councilor Lingard was not 

able to attend.  She pointed out that she had no problem with the meeting being held, 

adding that there was nothing illegal about it, but she thought it was wrong and very 

unDuck-like to have a population of approximately 600 active residents; there were six 

Council seats, five were up to be elected and for them not to be able to include everyone 

was completely wrong in her opinion.  She received a telephone call from a Duck 

Democrats representative, Miriam Rollin, after the meeting had happened stating that she 

wanted to get all six members together. She felt that it was either an intentional omission 

to not include all six candidates or it was done as a short-sighted gesture not 

understanding the parameters that allow the League of Women Voters to do exactly the 

same thing – have all six candidates available to answer questions and respond to the 

public.  She pointed out that it was her personal comment that Council should not be 

doing things like that.  She added that in full transparency, she wanted everyone to know 

that she was not okay or happy with the fact that people were excluded from something 

that represented all of Duck. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau thanked Councilor Chasen for her comments, adding that 

she shed a light that affected a lot of people that were concerned about the fact that it was 

a meeting that was looking for content in terms of what would be put on the agenda. She 

pointed out that she did not set the agenda or come up with it, but she was a willing 



 

 8 

participant, adding that she did raise the concerns about the fact that they were non-

partisan and have always been, which she loved about the Town with regard to the 

elections. She stated that she wished many more of the government elections were non-

partisan as she thought it creates division where there doesn’t need to be and division has 

never been in Duck.   She stated that she did not want to add a wedge to anything that the 

Duck Democrats do in the Town in terms of unity.   

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau thought, given the fact that there was a worry and an 

idea, part of it was because of the idea that there cannot be more than two Council 

members together without creating a meeting. She noted that when she answered the 

invitation, she knew there would be only two Council members eligible to attend, so she 

knew they were fine with regard to the open meetings law, but that was when the 

discussion at that meeting led to what Councilor Chasen had brought up.   

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau stated that that was where the idea came as to how it 

could be done in a much more broad way and where the invitation came from.  She 

explained that it was because, at the meeting of 10-12 people, that was discussed; brought 

up; and agreed that everyone wanted to be included.  She stated that since she was at the 

meeting, it was where the discussion started about whether or not it was something that 

the Town could sponsor and be more conversational than what the League of Women 

Voters put on.  She stated that she joked that all Council members would have to be 

completely separated in order to talk to the constituents so it would not be everyone 

talking as a Council.  She stated that since there were so many Council members running, 

she joked that it would be like speed dating, with small one-on-one conversations in a 

room.  She stated that that was the intent of trying to figure out a way to do it 

appropriately and not violating any open meeting laws and being inclusive.  She 

apologized for any feelings that were created by participating in the Duck Democrats 

meeting. 

 

Councilor Chasen stated that she appreciated the public apology and thanked Mayor Pro 

Tempore Thibodeau. She stated that she did not feel like anyone on Council has any 

problem with partisanship because they worked well as a group. She stated that she 

wanted to bring it up now to make sure that it was her intent that Council continues to be 

able to do that.  Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau thanked Councilor Chasen for bringing it 

up.  

 

Mayor Kingston reminded Council at their last meeting he briefly spoke about the issue 

because he had heard that things were getting partisan. He knew that in his eight elections 

running for Town Council, this could have set a precedent that the Town never had over 

those elections. He added that there was never interference from partisan organizations, 

adding that they offered support, but he thought most candidates declined it and he hoped 

that, moving forward, when people run for Town Council, that they will stay non-partisan 

and avoid partisanship.  He agreed with Councilor Chasen’s comments, adding that it was 

unfortunate to bring partisan politics into a non-partisan election. 

 

OTHER BUSINESS 



 

 9 

 

Additional Public Comments 

 

Mayor Kingston opened the floor for public comments.   There being no one wishing to 

comment, Mayor Kingston closed the time for public comments. 

 

Mayor Kingston noted that the next meeting would be the Regular Meeting on 

Wednesday, November 5, 2025 at 1:00 p.m.   

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

Councilor Whitman moved to adjourn the meeting. 

 

Motion carried 5-0. 

 

The time was 1:53 p.m. 

     

____________________________ 

       Lori A. Ackerman, Town Clerk 

 

Approved: ______________________ 

 

_______________________________ 

Don Kingston, Mayor 



RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF DUCK, NORTH 

CAROLINA, DECLARING CERTAIN PROPERTY SURPLUS AND AUTHORIZING THE 

SALE AT AUCTION OF SAID PROPERTY  

 

Resolution #25-14 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Duck, North Carolina, is regularly in possession of certain 

personal property deemed to be surplus; and 

 

WHEREAS, the North Carolina General Statutes provide for the methods in which a 

municipality may dispose of real and personal property; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 160A-266(c) of the North Carolina General Statutes authorizes a 

Town Council to adopt regulations for the disposal of personal property valued at less than thirty 

thousand dollars ($30,000) provided that the regulations secure fair market value for the disposal 

of the property and provided that a record of the transactions related to the disposition of the 

property be retained; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council established regulations authorizing the Town Manager to 

dispose of personal property as efficiently and economically as possible in the approved Financial 

Polices; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Financial Policies specify that the Town Manager may declare surplus 

any motor vehicle valued at less than thirty thousand dollars ($30,000) and use such vehicle as a 

trade for the purchase of another vehicle provided that the vehicle being purchased has been 

approved as part of the Town’s approved budget; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Duck has two vehicles, which will not be traded in, with an 

estimated value in excess of $1,000 each, but under $30,000 each for which the Town has no 

continued use. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 

DUCK, NORTH CAROLINA, THIS 5TH DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2025, that the Town Council 

does hereby authorize the sale, at auction, of the following vehicles: 

 

1) 2020 Ford Explorer Police Interceptor Utility, VIN: 1FM5K8AW7LGB12660 

 

2) 2020 Ford Explorer Police Interceptor Utility, VIN: 1FM5K8AW9LGB12661 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Town Manager is hereby authorized to take all actions 

necessary to transfer the surplus vehicles to the successful bidder. 

 

  



Adopted this 5th Day of November, 2025. 

  

 

 

     Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

        Town Clerk        



RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF DUCK, NORTH CAROLINA, 

SUPPORTING OPERATION GREEN LIGHT FOR VETERANS 

 

Resolution 25-15 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Duck has great respect, admiration, and the utmost gratitude for 

all the men and women who have selflessly served our country and this community in the Armed 

Forces; and 

 

WHEREAS, the contributions and sacrifices of those who served in the Armed Forces 

have been vital in maintaining the freedoms and way of life enjoyed by our citizens; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Duck seeks to honor individuals who have made countless 

sacrifices for freedom by placing themselves in harm’s way for the good of all: and 

 

WHEREAS, veterans continue to serve our community in the American Legion, Veterans 

of Foreign Wars, religious groups, civil service, and by functioning as County Veterans Service 

Officers in 29 states to help fellow former service members access more than $52 billion in 

Federal health, disability, and compensation benefits each year; and 

 

WHEREAS, approximately 200,000 service members transition to civilian communities 

annually; and an estimated 20 percent increase of service members will transition to civilian life 

in the near future; and 

 

WHEREAS, studies indicate that 44-72 percent of service members experience high 

levels of stress during transition from military to civilian life; and  

 

WHEREAS, active military service members transitioning from military service are at a 

high risk for suicide during their first year after military service; and 

 

WHEREAS, the National Association of Counties encourages all counties, towns, and 

cities to recognize Operation Green Light for Veterans; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Duck participated in Operation Green Light for the first time in 

November 2023, and the second time in November 2024, and illuminated the Duck Town Hall 

and Paul F. Keller Meeting Hall with green lighting to demonstrate the community’s appreciation 

of and support for local veterans; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Duck appreciates the sacrifices of our United States military 

personnel and believes specific recognition should be granted. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN 

OF DUCK, NORTH CAROLINA, this 5th day of November, 2025, with the designation as Green 

Light for Veterans County, the Town of Duck hereby declares from November 4, 2025 through 

Veterans Day, November 11, 2025 as a time to salute and honor the service and sacrifices of our 

men and women in uniform transitioning from active service. 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in observance of Operation Green Light, the Town 

of Duck encourages its citizens in patriotic tradition to recognize the importance of honoring all 

those who made immeasurable sacrifices to preserve freedom by displaying green lights in a 

window of their place of business or residence from November 4 through 11, 2025. 



 

Adopted this 5th Day of November, 2025. 

  

 

     Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

        Town Clerk        



AGENDA: November 5, 2025  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #4A: 
 

 Special Presentations 

 

A.   Employee Service Recognition Program Recipient 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Present Master Police Officer Jeremy Davis with his 5-year service 

recognition certificate and $50 gift certificate 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

The Town has an Employee Service Recognition Program whereby employees are 

recognized for their employment with the Town at 5-year intervals.  As a part of the 

program, employees are recognized at a Council Meeting and receive a certificate and a 

gift certificate from a Duck business. Master Police Officer Jeremy Davis will be 

employed with the Town of Duck for 5 years as of November 16th and will be 

recognized. 

   

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 

 



RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF DUCK, NORTH CAROLINA, 

HONORING DUCK RESIDENT BAILEY PAPPAS FOR HIS OUTSTANDING ACHIEVEMENT 

AT THE 2025 ADAPTIVE CROSSFIT GAMES 

Resolution #25-16 

WHEREAS, Duck resident Bailey Pappas has shown exceptional perseverance, strength, and 

commitment throughout his CrossFit journey; and 

WHEREAS, Bailey began CrossFit in 2018 in Kennett Square, Pennsylvania while recovering from 

a serious arm injury, transforming physical therapy into a meaningful and life-changing pursuit; and 

WHEREAS, after moving to the Outer Banks with his family in 2020, Bailey continued training 

through virtual classes while navigating the challenges of a major transition, demonstrating resilience and 

dedication; and 

WHEREAS, Bailey later trained at CrossFit Outer Banks in Kill Devil Hills, where he was 

encouraged to pursue his goal of qualifying for the Adaptive CrossFit Games; and 

WHEREAS, Bailey continued his training at Momentum Fitness, proceeding to competition in 

2025, advancing to the semi-finals, and earning an invitation to the Adaptive CrossFit Games in Las Vegas; 

and 

WHEREAS, from September 12–14, 2025, Bailey represented Duck and the Outer Banks 

competing among the top adaptive athletes from more than 26 countries, completing seven demanding 

workouts with the support of his family, friends, and coaches; and 

WHEREAS, Bailey achieved his goal by finishing 7th in the world in the “Men with Intellectual 

without CC” division, inspiring others with his determination, character, and commitment; and 

WHEREAS, his coaches have praised his work ethic and spirit, noting that he continues to inspire 

teammates and community members alike. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Town Council of the Town of Duck hereby 

recognizes and congratulates Bailey Pappas for his remarkable accomplishment at the 2025 Adaptive 

CrossFit Games and for representing the Town of Duck with pride, dedication, and heart; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this Resolution be spread upon the official minutes of the Town 

Council and that a copy be presented to Bailey with the Town’s appreciation and best wishes for continued 

success. 

Adopted this 5th Day of November, 2025. 

  

     Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

        Town Clerk     



AGENDA: November 5, 2025  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #4E: 
 

 Special Presentations 

 

E.  Presentation of the Town’s Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Audit Report  

 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Per Discussion 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

Mr. Samuel Potts, the Town’s auditor, will present the FY 2024-2025 Audit to the 

Council. 

   

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Town of Duck Audit Presentation 

• Town of Duck, North Carolina, Financial Statements for the Year 

Ended June 30, 2025 will be provided at the meeting  



TOWN OF DUCK
AUDIT PRESENTATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

1

Thompson, Price, Scott, Adams & Co., P.A.

4024 Oleander Drive Suite 103

Wilmington, North Carolina 28403

Telephone (910) 799-4872

Fax (910) 239-8294



TOWN OF DUCK
REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS

Area

Responsibilities Under Generally Accepted Auditing 
Standards, Government Auditing Standards, OMB 
Uniform Guidance, and the State Single Audit 
Implementation Act.

Design the audit to provide reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free of material error and in compliance 
with government regulations.

Perform all planned procedures and have complete access to 
both management and required information.

Communicate significant deficiencies in the internal control.

2

Comments

• Accomplished.  No material error noted.

• Completed.  Our work was not limited in 
any way.

• None.



TOWN OF DUCK
REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS (CONTINUED)

Area

Adoption or Change in Accounting Policies
Communicate the initial adoption of or a change in an
accounting principle which had or is expected to have
a significant effect on the financial statements.

Management Judgment and Accounting 
Estimates

Assess methodologies used and basis of evidence for
matters requiring judgments and estimates.

Financial statement disclosures

Significant Audit Adjustments or Unrecorded
Differences

Communicate significant recorded and unrecorded
differences.

Comments

• GASB 101 – Sick Leave Payable.

• Methods used and evidence considered 
appear to have led to reasonable amounts 
being included in the financial statements.

• The financial statement disclosures are 
neutral, consistent, and clear.

• None.

3



TOWN OF DUCK
REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS (CONTINUED)

Area

Disagreements with Management
Communicate any disagreements on financial or reporting
matters that, if not satisfactorily resolved, would cause a
modification of our report.

Management Representations

Consultation with Other Accountants
Communicate consultation that took place with other
accountants.

Prior to Retention Issues

Communicate any major issues that management discussed
with the auditor in connection with the retention of the
auditor, including the application of accounting principles
and auditing standards.

Comments

• None.

• Management provided a management
representation letter.

• None to our knowledge.

• None.

4



TOWN OF DUCK
REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS (CONTINUED)

Area

Difficulties Encountered Performing the Audit

Any serious difficulties the auditor encountered in dealing 
with management such as unreasonable delays in providing 
needed information, unreasonable timetable set by 
management, or unavailability of client personnel.

Irregularities and Illegal Acts

Communicate the existence of any material irregularities 
and/or illegal acts determined during the audit.

Other Findings or Issues

Comments

• None noted.

• None noted.

• None.

5



Dear Board Members:
2025Below is a summarization of some of the key items in the audit report.

9,948,169  $Cash and Cash Equivalents

3,214,855 $Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

14,070,164 $Total Revenues and Other Financing Sources

14,782,467 $Total Expenditures and Other Financing Uses

(712,303)$Net Change

3,695,617$
Minimum Undesignated Fund Balance as Recommended by the Local Government
Commission - (25% of Expenditures)

9,286,798$Unassigned Fund Balance

100.82%Fund Balance Available as a Percentage of General Fund Expenditures

99.96%Tax Collection Rate

TOWN OF DUCK
GENERAL FUND

6



GENERAL FUND 
OPERATING SUMMARY

7

2022 2023 2024 2025

$10,976,150 $11,640,798 

$18,061,562 

$12,070,164 
$10,566,445 

$11,296,287 

$14,231,993 
$14,782,467 

Total Revenues Total Expenditures



TOP 5 REVENUES:
GENERAL FUND - OPERATING

8

Ad Valorem 
Taxes

$5,838,259 
48%

Unrestricted 
Intergovernmental

$2,687,398 
22%

Other Taxes & 
Licenses
$2,533,698 

21%

Investment 
Earnings
$463,488 

4%

Miscellaneous
$290,184 

3%

Other Revenue
$257,137 

2%



TOP 5 EXPENDITURES:
GENERAL FUND - OPERATING

9

Public Safety
$4,916,877 

33%

Debt Service
$3,380,514 

23%

Capital Outlay
$2,431,901 

16%

Environmental 
Protection
$1,562,919 

11%

General 
Government

$1,477,448 
10%

Other Expenditures
$1,012,808 

7%



GENERAL FUND
ANALYSIS OF FUND BALANCE

10

2022 2023 2024 2025

$3,779,306 $2,731,904 

$9,419,646 

$5,525,503 

$7,549,154 $8,941,067 

$6,104,958 

$9,286,798 

Total $11,328,460 Total $11,672,971 

Total $15,524,604 
Total $14,812,301 

Committed/Restricted/Assigned Available



TOWN OF DUCK

11

59.02%
71.29%

100.82%

2023 2024 2025

Fund Balance Available as a Percentage of General Fund 
Expenditures



Thank You for the 
Opportunity to Work 

With You!

12



AGENDA: November 5, 2025  Regular Meeting 
 

 

ITEM #7A: 
 

Old Business/Items Deferred from Previous Meetings 

 

A. Discussion/Consideration of Appointing Seven Individuals to Serve on 

the Town of Duck Parks & Recreation Committee 

 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Appoint seven individuals to serve on the Parks & Recreation 

Committee for a term to end on December 31, 2026 
 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

At their September 3, 2025 meeting, Council voted to create a Parks & Recreation 

Committee that would consist of seven individuals – one representative from the Planning 

Board; two representatives from the Duck business community; two representatives  who 

are Duck residents; and two at-large members. Staff advertised the positions and received 

16 applications from Jamie Anderson, Sara Culpepper, Matt Foreman, Robert Gunther, 

John Harris, Mary Alice Hayward, Anne Henningfeld; Erin Jewell; Nicki Johnson, Lisa 

Mann, Melissa Richman, Daniel Snyder, Shannon Tyrrell, Ben Vorndran, Bob Webb, and 

Dennis Zaenger.   

 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Staff Report 

• Guidelines for Town Parks & Recreation Advisory Committee 

• Categorized Review Sheet 

• Applications Received as listed below: 

 

Jamie Anderson Application  Sara Culpepper Application 

Matt Foreman Application   Robert Gunther Application 

John Harris Application   Mary Alice Hayward Application 

Anne Hennigfeld Application  Erin Jewell Application 

Nicki Johnson Application   Lisa Mann Application 

Melissa Richman Application  Daniel Snyder Application 

Shannon Tyrrell Application  Ben Vorndran Application 

Bob Webb Application   Dennis Zaenger Application  



 
  Town of Duck, North Carolina 

Department of Community Development 
Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee 

 
Agenda Item 7a 

 
 

1 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Mayor Kingston & Members of the Duck Town Council 
 
FROM:  Jim Gould, Community Planner 
 
DATE:  November 5, 2025 
  
SUBJECT: Discussion/Consideration of Appointing Seven Individuals to Serve on the Town 

of Duck Parks & Recreation Committee  
 
 
 
At its public meeting on September 3, 2025, the Duck Town Council approved the establishment 
of an ad hoc Town Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee. Town Staff accepted applications 
between Monday, September 15 and Friday October 24, 2025.  During this period, sixteen 
applications were received.  Staff is now requesting Town Council review the applications and 
appoint committee members consistent with guidelines adopted in Resolution #25-11. Staff has 
compiled all applications for your review and categorized applicants to allow appointments 
consistent with membership requirements outlined in the approved guidelines.   
 
Town Council Action  
 

A. Appoint Town Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee members.  
1. Review submitted applications 
2. Allow for applicants to briefly introduce themselves to the Town Council and 

public, with the opportunity for additional questions as needed.  
3. Nominate committee members.   
4. Appoint a Council member to serve as a liaison to the committee.   

 
Attachments 
 

A. Guidelines for Town Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee 
B. Categorized Review Sheet  
C. Compilation of Applications  

 
 







Town Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee
Categorized Review Sheet

Category First Last Attending Council Notes

1 Business Jamie Anderson

2 Business Sara Culpepper

3 Resident Matt Foreman

4 Resident Mary Alice Hayward

5 Resident Anne Henningfeld

6 Resident Erin Jewell

7 Business Shannon Tyrrell

8 Resident Ben Vorndran

9 Planning Board Bob Webb

10 Resident Dennis Zaenger

11 Resident Robert Gunther NO

12 Business John Harris NO

13 Resident Nicki Johnson NO

14 Business Lisa Mann NO

Attachment B



15 Resident Melissa Richman NO

16 Resident Dan Snyder NO

Attachment B























(Rev. 2/23)            Page 1 

 
APPLICATION FOR BOARDS, COMMITTEES, AND COMMISSIONS 

TOWN OF DUCK 
 

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 
 

Date Received 
 

 

Time 

 

 

Contacted by: 

 
 

 

Appointed To 

 

 

Date Appointed 

 

Application Updated: 

 

 

 

Please Complete Each Section (Print or Type) 

 

Name             

 

Home Address       

 

Mailing Address      

 

Business Address           

 

Home Phone  Business Phone     
 

Email         
 

 

Boards/Committees/Commissions I am most interested in: 

 

____ Planning Board    

____ Zoning Board of Adjustment 

____ Wall Décor and Artwork Committee 

____ Parks & Recreation Advisory Committee 

____ Other (please list) _____________________________ 

 

Education (Including Years of School Completed): 

              

              

 

Mary Alice HAYWARD

X

HS completed, BA in Anthropoloyg and Foreign Languages; MA in political science



(Rev. 2/23) Page 2 

Current Employer __________________________________________ 

Title/Position Years in Current Position ___________________ 

Brief Description of Duties: 

Other Employment History 

Interests/Skills/Areas of Expertise 

Current Professional Organizations/Civic and/or Activities 

Past Professional Organizations/Civic and/or Activities 

Comments  

Is there any possible conflict of interest or other matter that would create problems or prevent you 

from fairly and impartially discharging your duties as an appointee of the Town Council? 

____No ___ Yes (If yes, please attach an explanation of the possible conflict) 

I certify that the facts contained in this application are true and correct to the best of my knowledge 

and belief.  I understand that this application will be retained in the Office of the Town Clerk for two (2) 

years and must be updated after that time.  If not updated as requested by the Town Manager, the 

application will be removed from the active consideration file. I understand if I am to be considered for a 

position that I will be required to give a presentation to Town Council on my qualifications and why I wish to 

serve.  I further understand that upon submitting this application to the Town of Duck, this application and 

all information on it is considered a public record under North Carolina law.   

Signature 

Date 

RETURN COMPLETED FORM TO: Office of the Town Clerk 

Town of Duck 

Post Office Box 8369 

Duck, NC  27949  

RETIRED

Deputy Director General - Management, UN International Atomic Energy Agency /VIce President - Government Affairs and Advocacy, AREVA (now Framatome/Orano);

 US Department of State, National Security Council, US Senate, US Dept of Energy,  US Government Accountability Office

Conservation/Management/US Government and International Multilateral Agencies Policy development/analysis/execution

/ Bi-lingual/Leadership Development

Volunteer - Network for Endangered Sea Turtles

Vice Chairman of Board, World Institute for Nuclear Security

Mentor, World Nuclear Association World Nuclear University Summer Institute

X

  SEPT 17 2025







(Rev. 2/23)            Page 1 

 
APPLICATION FOR BOARDS, COMMITTEES, AND COMMISSIONS 

TOWN OF DUCK 
 

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 
 

Date Received 
 

 

Time 

 

 

Contacted by: 

 
 

 

Appointed To 

 

 

Date Appointed 

 

Application Updated: 

 

 

 

Please Complete Each Section (Print or Type) 

 

Name             

 

Home Address           

 

Mailing Address           

 

Business Address           

 

Home Phone     Business Phone     
 

Email                                               
 

 

Boards/Committees/Commissions I am most interested in: 

 

____ Planning Board    

____ Zoning Board of Adjustment 

____ Wall Décor and Artwork Committee 

____ Parks & Recreation Advisory Committee 

____ Other (please list) _____________________________ 

 

Education (Including Years of School Completed): 

              

              

 



(Rev. 2/23) Page 2 

Current Employer __________________________________________ 

Title/Position Years in Current Position ___________________ 

Brief Description of Duties: 

Other Employment History 

Interests/Skills/Areas of Expertise 

Current Professional Organizations/Civic and/or Activities 

Past Professional Organizations/Civic and/or Activities 

Comments ______ 

Is there any possible conflict of interest or other matter that would create problems or prevent you 

from fairly and impartially discharging your duties as an appointee of the Town Council? 

____No ___ Yes (If yes, please attach an explanation of the possible conflict) 

I certify that the facts contained in this application are true and correct to the best of my knowledge 

and belief.  I understand that this application will be retained in the Office of the Town Clerk for two (2) 

years and must be updated after that time.  If not updated as requested by the Town Manager, the 

application will be removed from the active consideration file. I understand if I am to be considered for a 

position that I will be required to give a presentation to Town Council on my qualifications and why I wish to 

serve.  I further understand that upon submitting this application to the Town of Duck, this application and 

all information on it is considered a public record under North Carolina law.   

Signature 

Date 

RETURN COMPLETED FORM TO: Office of the Town Clerk 

Town of Duck 

Post Office Box 8369 

Duck, NC  27949  









































AGENDA:  November 5, 2025 Regular Meeting 
 

 

ITEM #8A: 
 

New Business 

 

A. Discussion/Consideration of an Ocean Lifeguard and Rescue 

Service Contract for Calendar Year 2025-2026  

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Review summary of responses received to a Request for Proposals for 

Ocean Lifeguard and Rescue Service and possible motion to approve 

one proposal, as well as directing the Town Manager to negotiate the 

terms of the contact for an initial five-year period, and execute said 

contract.  
 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

The attached staff report summarizes the Request for Proposal process, the process for 

evaluating the responses received, and the recommendation being made in terms of 

contracting for this important service. Council received, in advance, the full proposals from 

each responsive contractor to help inform deliberations.  
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Staff report 



 
 
 

P.O. Box 8369 ● Duck, North Carolina 27949 ● 252.255.1234 ● 252.255.1236 (fax) 
www.ducknc.gov 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

October 28, 2025 
 
To: Town Council Members 
 
From: Drew Havens, Town Manager 
 
Re: Ocean Lifeguard Service 
 
Since Duck became a Town, we have contracted for Ocean Lifeguard Service and have seen an 
expansion of that service to provide coverage along the entire length of our beach in order to 
educate, inform, and protect beachgoers. Our long-term contract expired on June 30, 2024 and 
the Town exercised a full-year (fiscal) renewal option and a second renewal option for the period 
from July 1, 2025 through December 31, 2025. This change in contract term was to align the 
contract with the calendar year, rather than the fiscal year, so the full season of service would fall 
within one contract year. This change was encouraged and supported by our incumbent 
contractor who also made aware, with the first renewal term, that the Town would be preparing a 
Request for Proposals for this service as the contract (including renewal terms) was coming to an 
end. This would mark the first time this service had ever been contracted based upon a Request 
for Proposals.  
 
Issuing the RFP reflected our desire 
to be good stewards of the public’s 
money, especially given the high 
cost associated with this type of 
service and was not an indication of 
our relationship with, or 
performance of, our current 
contractor.  
 
The charts to the right and below 
show the actual contract cost for the 
past five fiscal years and the 
increase in the cost of this service 
and the increase in the Consumer 
Price Index (an indicator of inflationary influences on costs at the time) for the past five years.  
 
 



From Fiscal Year 2020-21 on there 
were no changes in the level of 
service, but there were economic 
pressures in terms of pay rates for 
lifeguards and the cost of insurance 
paid by the contractor that led to an 
increase in contract costs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We worked with Cliff Ogburn, Town Manager of Southern Shores, on a coordinated Request for 
Proposals as our current contractor also serves that community and their contract was also 
nearing its end date. The RFP was released on August 12, 2025 and was sent directly to our 
current contractor, the contractor for a neighboring jurisdiction, and to one local government. It 
was also advertised on our website per our practice.  
 
Responses to the RFP were due by 5:00 p.m. on September 25, 2025. As of that time, three 
proposals were received and initially reviewed for completeness and a summary of the costs sent 
to Cliff at Southern Shores. Subsequently the proposals were delivered to him for his review. 
One of the proposals received was not responsive to the RFP, so it was given only a cursory 
review. The other two proposals were thoroughly and independently evaluated by Cliff and me.  
 
He and I met to discuss our evaluation of the proposals and we both concluded that both 
contractors were responsive to the RFP and provided pricing, including a cost escalation cap, and 
indicated other charges and considerations. With the incumbent contractor being fully known to 
us in terms of the ability to provide the required services, we agreed to contact the other 
proposer, who is the lowest responsive bidder, to determine their ability to meet the requirements 
for providing this service.  
 
This table shows the names of the contractors, their first year base price, and other related 
information.  
 

 

Vendor City/State Duck Southern Shores Max Escalation Other Charges Other Consideration Reponsive to RFP

Sandski, LLC Kitty Hawk, NC 780,000.00 290,000.00 10.00%

Flags, Flag Poles, 
Material for Stands, 
Sign Boards for 
Stands

Use of property 
behind Station 11 
and Use of property 
adjacent to Ocean 
Blvd in S.S.

Yes

Outer Banks Water Safety,LLC Nags Head, NC 759,750.00 236,995.00 5.00% None stated
Extended/on-call 
services can be 
negotiated 

Yes

Year One Base Price



 
Because the lowest responsive bidder is not our current vendor, Cliff, Connor, and I met with the 
principals of the Outer Banks Water Safety (OBWS) for nearly two hours to discuss their 
proposal, which was extremely detailed and complete, and to ask additional questions not 
covered in the RFP. The principals are all experienced lifeguards one of whom worked in Duck 
and Southern Shores, one who has over 10 years of experience in Kill Devil Hills, another who 
has a few years in KDH, and one who is the current director of the lifeguard program in KDH. 
All four are certified Emergency Medical Technicians (EMT) with two currently working for 
Dare County EMS.  
 
References for this organization and the leadership mentioned above were received from well-
respected and qualified people familiar with the work of these individuals and the unique 
challenges presented by the ocean along the Outer Banks. All provided glowing 
recommendations for Outer Banks Water Safety with one noting that the team represents “a 
wealth of experience, knowledge/integrity, and dependability that our communities rely upon”. 
By the end of our meeting, Cliff, Connor, and I achieved a level of comfort with the ability of 
OBWS to provide a high level of professional service to our communities.  
 
In conclusion, we issued the RFP and thoroughly evaluated the responses, and the lowest bidder 
was completely responsive to the RFP, and I believe them to be a responsible bidder. The fact 
that they are the lowest responsive and responsible bidder guides my recommendation that the 
Town of Duck contract with OBWS for the contract period beginning January 1, 2026, and 
extending for an initial period of five years.  
 
 
 



AGENDA: November 5, 2025  Regular Meeting 
 

 

ITEM #8B: 
 

New Business 

 

B. Discussion/Consideration of Authorizing Staff to Work with the 

Planning Board on Several Text Amendments 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Discuss & consider authorizing Town staff to work with the Planning 

Board on two zoning text amendments 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 

 
The Community Development Department has identified two text amendments that can 

be considered to address issues that have come to staff’s attention regarding Section 

156.051 – Building Features Exempt from Setbacks or Minimum Yard Requirements and 

156.002 – Definition of Lot Coverage.  At this time, staff are asking for the Town 

Council’s authorization to work with the Planning Board and Town Attorney on each of 

the potential text amendments. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 
• Memorandum from Community Development Department 



 

 

 

 
P.O. Box 8369 ● Duck, North Carolina 27949 ● 252.255.1234 ● 252.255.1236 (fax) 

www.townofduck.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:  Mayor Kingston & Members of the Duck Town Council 

 

FROM:  Marc Murray, Chairman, Duck Planning Board 

  Connor Winstead, Assistant Town Manager 

  Drew Havens, Town Manager 

 

DATE:  October 28, 2025 

  

SUBJECT: Authorization to Consider and Propose Potential Ordinance Amendments 

 

After working with different aspects of the Town Code over the past year, the Community 

Development staff has identified two (2) text amendments that can be considered to correct 

errors or better address important issues.   

 

Chapter 156.051 Building Features Exempt from Setbacks of Minimum Yard Requirements.  

Town Staff is proposing a very narrowly constructed Zoning Text Amendment (ZTA) to allow 

outdoor showers as exempt from setbacks or minimum yard requirements and would ask Council 

to refer this matter to the Planning Board for review and consideration.  

 

Section 156.002 Definitions  

Staff previously discussed with the Planning Board members an issue and clarification regarding 

alternative ground cover agreements as noted in the definition of Lot Coverage.  The Planning 

Board agreed it was their consensus that any alternative ground cover that was afforded reduced 

or no lot coverage consideration should be subject to documentation and recordation of a ground 

cover agreement stating installation was consistent with manufacturer’s specification and that 

maintenance will be provided accordingly.  This is not clearly stated in the current iteration of 

the definition of Lot Coverage.  

 

Additionally, we no longer count pool water in lot coverage, however the principal definition 

still includes “pools”, so we need to address this inconsistency.   

 

At this time, the Planning Board and staff are asking for the Town Council’s authorization to 

revisit this section of the ordinance.  

 



AGENDA: November 5, 2025  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #14: 
 

Closed Session 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 
• Make the following motion:  

 

o To enter a closed session in accordance with Section 143-

318.11(a)(1) of the North Carolina General Statutes to prevent the 

disclosure of information that is privileged or confidential, 

pursuant to the law of this State or of the United States or not 

considered a public record within the meaning of Chapter 132 of 

the General Statutes. 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

• None.  

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 
• None. 


	agenda2025-11-05
	agenda2025-11-05consent agenda
	agenda2025-11-05consent agendaA
	agenda2025-11-05consent agendaB
	agenda2025-11-05consent agendaC
	agenda2025-11-05special presentationsA
	agenda2025-11-05special presentationsD
	agenda2025-11-05special presentationsE
	agenda2025-11-05special presentationsE1
	agenda2025-11-05old businessA
	agenda2025-11-05old businessA1
	agenda2025-11-05old businessA2
	Pages from agenda2025-09-03old businessA1.pdf
	TCMemo_ApplicantList.pdf

	agenda2025-11-05old businessA3
	Jamie Anderson Application
	Sara Culpepper Application
	Matt Foreman Application
	Robert Gunther Application
	John Harris Application
	Mary Alice Hayward Application_Redacted
	Anne Henningfeld Application
	Erin Jewell Application
	Nicki Johnson Application_Redacted
	Lisa Mann Application
	Melissa Richman Application
	Dan Snyder Application
	Shannon Tyrrell Application
	Ben Vorndran Application
	Bob Webb Application
	Dennis Zaenger Application

	agenda2025-11-05new businessA
	agenda2025-11-05new businessA1
	agenda2025-11-05new businessB
	agenda2025-11-05new businessB1
	agenda2025-11-05closed session

	Date Received: 
	Time: 
	Contacted by: 
	Appointed To: 
	Date Appointed: 
	Application Updated: 
	Name: Erin Jewell
	Home Address: 125 Marlin Dr. Duck, NC 27949
	Mailing Address: 125 Marlin Dr. Duck, NC 27949
	Business Address: 
	Business Phone: 608-574-9384
	undefined: 
	Email: jewell.ern@gmail.com
	Planning Board: 
	Zoning Board of Adjustment: 
	Wall Décor and Artwork Committee: 
	Parks  Recreation Advisory Committee: x
	Other please list: 
	Education Including Years of School Completed: 
	1: Bachelor of Fine Arts Degree
	2: 
	Current Employer: Graphic Designer/ Production Specialists
	Years in Current Position: ICF (based in Washington DC)
	undefined_2: 6
	Brief Description of Duties 1: Assist in the creation and execution of creative advertisements, event merch, and other materials for utility and government clients. 
	Brief Description of Duties 2: 
	Brief Description of Duties 3: 
	Other Employment History 1: Before my graphic design career I worked in the hospitality industry in many different positions within hotels, spas and attractions.
	Other Employment History 2: 
	InterestsSkillsAreas of Expertise 1: Art, Music, Dog Walking/Training, Swimming, Other Outdoor activities, Child care (Mom to a 1.5 year old) 
	InterestsSkillsAreas of Expertise 2: 
	Current Professional OrganizationsCivic andor Activities 1: Volunteered for different activities within the town of Duck over the years. 
	Current Professional OrganizationsCivic andor Activities 2: 
	Current Professional OrganizationsCivic andor Activities 3: 
	Past Professional OrganizationsCivic andor Activities 1: None
	Past Professional OrganizationsCivic andor Activities 2: 
	Comments: I have lived in Duck for 5 years and myself and my famnily have become a part of the community. I have a 1.5 year old little girl and a 5 year old dog so I actively use the parks, beaches and public use spaces in Duck regularly 
	from fairly and impartially discharging your duties as an appointee of the Town Council: x
	all information on it is considered a public record under North Carolina law: 
	Signature1_es_:signer:signature: 10/13/25


